# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-2008

EMANUEL JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

CAPITAL POSTCONVICTION CASE (Victim Iris White)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber
Florida Bar No. 0330541
Maria Perinetti
Florida Bar No. 0013837
Capital Collateral Regional Counsel
Middle Region
3801 Corporex Park Drive,
Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813 740 3544

**Counsel for Appellant** 

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ON REFERENCES

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The defendant was convicted in four cases of crimes that were committed within a nine month time span. Two involved first degree murders which resulted in death sentences; the other two noncapital cases involved violent felonies and resulted in prison sentences. The four cases were tried in sequence and eventually gave rise to postconviction proceedings which were deemed "inseparably intertwined" by the trial court. The noncapital convictions were used as aggravators in the capital cases. The victims in both of those cases testified in both of the penalty phases of the capital cases.

Mr. Johnson's convictions and sentence in this case were affirmed on direct appeal at *Johnson v. State*, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995) *cert. denied*, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996) (victim Iris White). The other capital case involved Jackie McCahon, and was reported at *Johnson v. State*, 660 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1995) *cert. denied*, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996). Many of the issues raised on appeal were the same in both cases. Although the four cases have never been formally consolidated, this Court determined to take judicial notice of both capital cases together. "We recognize that the lower court, in a spirit of judicial efficiency, combined hearings in Johnson's various cases. Moreover, we earlier granted a motion to take judicial notice of a portion of the record in Johnson's other death appeal, though in that portion the trial

court actually was addressing an issue in the present case. Nevertheless, this motion was granted before it became clear how extensively the two Johnson records pending in this Court have become intertwined. . . . . We have read the entire record in both cases together and *sua sponte* have determined their relevance to one another." *Johnson v. State*, 660 So.2d 648, 652.

A separate postconviction motion was filed by CCRC in each of the four cases, however many of the claims in all of the motions were the same. Although the cases were never formally consolidated, essentially all of the postconviction pleadings, responses, hearings, orders, and so on addressed all four cases simultaneously.

In a single final order denying postconviction relief in all four cases, the lower court summarized their facts and procedural history this way:

#### BACKGROUND

This case pertains to a number of convictions for crimes against four victims occurring between January and October 1988, and has a protracted and complicated history; two victims were murdered, and two were not. Their cases, listed below in chronological order, can be summarized as follows.

# A. 88 CF 3202 (Victim: Kate Cornell)

Case Number 88 CF 3202 pertains to the attempted murder of Kate Cornell on or about January 17, 1988. On that date, Ms. Cornell was sitting and reading in her apartment after midnight. She got up to go into the bathroom, and while there, the Defendant, who had entered the apartment through a window in her roommate's bedroom, grabbed her by the arm, threatened her with a knife,

and demanded her money. When she gave him her money, he told her "that's not enough," pushed her on the bed, and stabbed her. When Ms. Cornell asked the Defendant what he had done with her roommate, the Defendant fled.

The Defendant was charged with attempted first-degree murder (Count I), burglary of a dwelling with a dangerous weapon (Count II), and robbery with a deadly weapon (Count III). After a trial in April 1991, a jury convicted him of all three counts, and the Court sentenced him to life on all three charges. On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed per curiam. See *Johnson v. State*, 662 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

#### B. 88 CF 3246 (Victim: Lawanda Giddens)

This case pertains to the attempted murder of Lawanda Giddens on or about May 28,1988. On that date, Ms. Giddens was sitting at home while her children were sleeping and her husband went to the convenience store. Shortly after her husband left, someone knocked on the door. When she opened the door, Ms. Giddens realized she did not know the person and tried to shut the door. The Defendant pushed his way through, grabbed Ms. Giddens by the throat with both hands and began to choke her. The Defendant carried her by the throat through her apartment to the kitchen counter, where she handed him money. After that, the Defendant led her outside, where she eventually broke free and called 911.

The Defendant was charged with attempted murder (Count I), robbery (Count II), and burglary of an occupied structure (Count III). The jury convicted him of Counts II and III as charged, and found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of battery on Count I. The Court sentenced him to 6 months in the County Jail on Count I, and 15 years on Counts II and III. On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed per curiam. See *Johnson v. State*, 662 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

# C. 88 CF 3200 and 88 CF 3438 (Victim: Jackie McCahon)

These cases pertain to the murder of Jackie McCahon in September 1988. In Case Number 88 CF 3200 the Defendant was charged with first-degree murder, and in Case Number 88 CF 3438 he was charged with armed

burglary. The facts of that case are as follows:

On September 22, 1988, Sarasota police found Jackie McCahon's body on a sidewalk in front of her residence. She had been stabbed nineteen times, and twelve of the wounds were fatal. A broken-off piece of a knife blade was found in her body. Blood spatter evidence suggested that McCahon had been attacked as she opened the door, or while inside a bathroom. Police at first suspected several men, but after turned their attention to a tenant of McCahon's named Emanuel Johnson. When first questioned, Johnson said he had heard police cars arrive and had gone out to see what was happening, but that he did not know McCahon was the victim until someone told him so the next day.

After a lengthy police interrogation, however, Johnson confessed. He said he had gone to McCahon's residence to say he needed to use her phone because his wife was about to give birth. McCahon knew that Johnson's wife was pregnant. When McCahon let Johnson in the door, he grabbed her and choked her to semi-consciousness. Then he found a knife, stabbed her several times, cut the phone cord, then took twenty dollars he found. Later, Johnson stated that he then went across the street to his apartment, but saw McCahon stagger out of her residence on to the sidewalk. At this point Johnson said he took a knife from his apartment, went out, and stabbed McCahon repeatedly. Police later found a broken knife handle where Johnson said he had thrown the second knife. It matched the broken blade found in the body.

*Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 648, 652 (Fla. 1995). After convicting the Defendant, the jury recommended the death penalty by a 10-to-2 vote. In sentencing the Defendant to death, the Court found that one of the aggravators was "prior violent felony," specifically:

# A) Capital felony.

The Defendant has previously been convicted of the First Degree Murder of Iris White in Case No. 88-3199.

B) Felonies involving the use of violence to persons.

The defendant has previously been convicted of Attempt to Commit Murder in the First Degree With a Weapon, Burglary of a Dwelling While Armed With a Dangerous Weapon, and Robbery While Armed With a Dangerous Weapon in Case No. 88-3202. The Defendant has previously been convicted of Robbery and Burglary of an Occupied Structure in Case No. 88-3246. The Defendant has previously been convicted of Armed Burglary in Case No. 88-3198.

Trial Court's Sentencing Order entered June 28, 1991. The Cornell and Giddens cases were included in the finding of this aggravator.

#### D. 88 CF 3198 and 88 CF 3199 (Victim: Iris White)

These cases pertain to the murder of 73-year-old Iris White in October 1988. In Case Number 88 CF 3198 the Defendant was charged with one count of armed burglary, and in Case Number 88 CF 3199 he was charged with first-degree murder. The facts in that case are as follows:

On October 4, 1988, police found the body of 73-year-old Iris White. She was naked from the waist down and had suffered twenty-four stab wounds, one incised wound, and blunt trauma to the back of the head. A variety of fatal wounds penetrated the lungs and heart. The body also showed evidence of defensive wounds and abrasions near the vagina and anus most likely caused by a forceful opening by hand or fingernails.

Police found a screen in the living room had been cut and the lower window raised. The fingerprints of Emanuel Johnson were recovered from the window sill. Police also found two pubic hairs that show the same microscopic characteristics as Johnson's, though an expert stated that an exact identification was not possible. Johnson had done yard work for White some years earlier.

After a lengthy interrogation on October 12, 1988, Johnson gave a taped confession to police. He stated that he knocked on White's door to talk about lawn maintenance. When she opened the door, he then grabbed her, choked her to unconsciousness, and then stabbed her several times. Johnson said he then left the house, locking the door behind himself, but forgot to take White's wallet. Twenty minutes later, he cut open the window screen, climbed in,

took the wallet, and left. Johnson said he later threw the wallet in an area where a road surveyor later found it.

*Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 637, 641 (Fla. 1995). After convicting the Defendant, the jury recommended the death sentence by an 8-to-4 vote. In sentencing the Defendant to death, the Court found that one of the aggravators was "prior violent felony," specifically:

## A) Capital felony.

The Defendant has previously been convicted of the First Degree Murder of Jackie McCahon in Case No. 88-3200.

B) Felonies involving the use of violence to persons.

The Defendant has previously been convicted of Attempt to Commit Murder in the First Degree With a Weapon, Burglary of a Dwelling While Armed With a Dangerous Weapon, and Robbery While Armed With a Dangerous Weapon in Case No. 88-3202. The Defendant has previously been convicted of Robbery and Burglary of an Occupied Structure in Case No. 88-3246. The Defendant has previously been convicted of Armed Robbery in Case No. 883438.

Trial Court's Sentencing Order was entered June 28, 1991. The Cornell and Giddens cases were included in the finding of the aggravator.

McCahon PC-R19, 3291-95; White PC-R20, 3617-25.

Defense counsel presented the testimony of a number of family members and other lay witnesses at the penalty phase, but no mental health experts. The trial court's sentencing order with regard to mitigation reads:

#### MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

The Court finds the following mitigating circumstances exist:

1. The Defendant was raised without a father in a single parent household.

- 2. The Defendant suffered a deprived upbringing in Mississippi.
- 3. The Defendant had an excellent relationship with other family members.
- 4. The Defendant was a good son who provided for his mother.
- 5. The Defendant has an excellent employment history.
- 6. The Defendant was a good husband and father who attempted to provide for the welfare of his family.
- 7. The Defendant is the father of two (2) children for whom he has demonstrated love and affection.
- 8. The Defendant cooperated with the police and confessed.
- 9. The Defendant has demonstrated artistic and poetic talents.
- 10. The age of the Defendant at the time of the crime.
- 11. The Defendant has potential for rehabilitation and productivity in the prison system.
- 12. The Court can punish the Defendant by imposing life sentences
- 13. The Defendant had no significant history of criminal activity before 1988.
- 14. The Defendant at all times during trial exhibited good conduct.
- 15. The Defendant suffered from mental pressure which did not reach the level of statutory mitigating factors.

The Court finds that the evidence did not establish the existence of the mitigating circumstance that the capital felony was committed while the Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. At no time was any evidence presented to the Court that the Defendant had ever discussed any emotional pressures with his family members as alleged in his confession. Additionally, the Defendant was examined by numerous psychological experts but no psychological testimony from any experts was presented to the Court. The Court did consider the statements in the Defendant's confession that he was suffering from a great deal of pressure and further, his treatment with an antipsychotropic medication during his initial incarceration. These factors convinced the Court to consider that the Defendant was suffering mental problems that did not rise to the level of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

McCahon R50, 8792-94; *Johnson* 660 So.2d at 652; White R48, 8811-15. The advisory verdict in McCahon was 10-2, in White 8-4.

The following issues were raised on direct appeal in the McCahon case: 1) The arrest was illegal, and the judge should have suppressed its fruits. 2) The confessions should be suppressed. 3) A clerk improperly swore, qualified, and excused jurors in the absence of the judge. 4) The court should have dismissed the indictment or at least required an evidentiary hearing when the defense demonstrated that the grand jury was improperly qualified. 5) The trial court improperly delayed trial for weeks after the jury was selected, to allow other jury selections and trials to occur. 6) The judge should have excused for cause two jurors who had a preconceived opinion that death was the proper penalty for first degree murder. 7) The defense presented a prima facie case of racial discrimination when, in case after case, the venire did not include more than one black. 8) The trial court improperly consolidated charges, moved the trial dates forward by one month, denied motions for continuances, and forced the defense to go to trial when it had just had an expert appointed and had only recently received discovery, merely to give the state more convictions to use as aggravating circumstances. Court's page limits on briefs have unconstitutionally denied the appellant his right to effective assistance of appellate counsel. This Court also incorporated four issues from the White cases and recited its rulings from that case.

The issues raised on direct appeal in the White case, as described by this Court

were: 1) The confession was involuntary for a variety of reasons. 2) Material seized from Johnson's apartment pursuant to a search warrant should have been suppressed on grounds the officer's sworn affidavit was defective and also because the warrant did not describe with particularity the items to be seized. 3) Reversible error occurred because of the trial court's refusal to excuse for cause a juror who had expressed favor toward the death penalty. 4) The Court was asked to consider arguments raised in the McCahon case. 5) The trial court improperly limited the presentation of mitigating evidence in various ways. 6) Erroneous comments were made by the State. 7) The trial court improperly declined to find the statutory "mental mitigator" of extreme mental disturbance. 8) There were various errors in the jury instructions. 9) The felony-murder aggravator is an improper automatic aggravator. 10) The standard jury instruction on HAC is invalid.

Mr. Johnson's convictions and sentences were affirmed in both capital cases.

In its final order denying postconviction relief in all four cases, the lower court devised a chart which listed the postconviction claims presented in each of the four cases. McCahon PC-R19, 3296–98; White PC-R20, 3622-25.

As framed by the court the claims in the McCahon case are these:

I: Ineffective assistance of counsel for mishandling experts.

II: State failed to disclose timely exculpatory information, which rendered counsel ineffective in failing to diligently prepare for trial.

III: State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct by offering evidence and argument of sperm after the FBI reported that none had been found.

IV: Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to call competent mental health experts in the penalty phase.

V: The aggravating circumstance of previous conviction of a violent felony was based solely on an invalid conviction.

VI: The rules prohibiting the Defendant's attorneys from interviewing jurors violate the constitution and deny him effective assistance of counsel.

VII: The death penalty statute is unconstitutional.

VIII: Mr. Johnson was denied due process when the Court did not allow him to inform the jury about his ineligibility for parole and the possible sentences he would likely receive.

IX: Mr. Johnson's death sentence is unconstitutional because the penalty phase jury instructions were incorrect.

X: Lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

XI: Mr. Johnson's convictions are unreliable because of cumulative effects of all errors.

XII: Mr. Johnson's right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated because he may be incompetent at the time of execution.

XIII: The State engaged in misconduct by presenting false evidence in the suppression hearings, and counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the misconduct.

XIV: He was denied due process when the State destroyed potentially useful evidence in bad faith.

XV: "The arrest, search and seizure" were based on an affidavit that contained

false statements, and counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge them.

As framed by the court the claims in the White case are these:

I: Ineffective assistance of counsel for mishandling mental health experts, i.e. Dr.Maher and Dr. Afield.

II: State failed to disclose timely exculpatory information, which rendered counsel ineffective in failing to diligently prepare for trial

III: State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct by offering evidence and argument of sperm after the FBI reported that none had been found

IV: Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to call competent mental health experts in the penalty phase

V: The aggravating circumstance of previous conviction of a violent felony was based solely on an invalid conviction

VI: The rules prohibiting the Defendant's attorneys from interviewing jurors violates the constitution and denies him effective assistance of counsel

VII: The death penalty statute is unconstitutional

VIII: He was denied due process when the Court did not allow him to inform the jury about his ineligibility for parole and the possible sentences he would likely receive in other cases.

IX: His death sentence is unconstitutional because the penalty phase jury instructions were incorrect

X: Lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment

XI: His convictions are unreliable because of cumulative effects of all errors

XII: His right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated

because he may be incompetent at the time of execution

XIII: The State engaged in misconduct by arguing facts not in evidence and defense counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge that misconduct

XIV: The State engaged in misconduct by presenting false evidence in the suppression hearings and counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the misconduct

XV: The State engaged in misconduct by presenting inconsistent theories and counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge that misconduct

XVI: Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to "introduce evidence of [his] actual innocence"

XVII: The State used illegally-obtained fingerprints

XVIII: 'The arrest, search and seizure' were based on an affidavit that contained false statements, and counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge them

The first four postconviction claims in each of the capital cases were largely identical and a single evidentiary hearing was conducted on all of them together. Most of the testimony at the hearing and the postconviction court's analyses and conclusions addressed elements of first and fourth claims, along with components of some of the other claims. Evidence other than what was already cited from the direct appeal record was offered on only some of the allegations in Claims II and III. The court's order denying postconviction relief is structured around the testimony of the witnesses at the evidentiary hearing. The transcript of the evidentiary hearing

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