IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EMANUEL JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-2008

L.T. No. CRC 88-3198/3199 CFANO

(Iris White)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF RULE 3.851 MOTION
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE V

THE FLORIDA BAR RULE 4-3.5(d)(4) CLAIM

Next, CCRC argues that the Florida Bar rule governing juror interviews is unconstitutional. This post-conviction claim is procedurally barred. See, *Kilgore v. State*, 55 So. 3d 487, 511 (Fla. 2010), citing *Allen v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2003) (finding a challenge to the constitutionality of the rules governing juror interviews procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings). It is also without merit because this Court has repeatedly rejected claims that Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-3.5(d)(4) is unconstitutional. See, *Kilgore*, 55 So. 3d at 511, citing *Floyd v. State*, 18 So. 3d 432, 459 (Fla. 2009). Lastly, to the extent Johnson appears to suggest ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel, this does not constitute any cognizable claim. See, *Spencer v. State*, 842 So. 2d 52, 72 (Fla. 2003), citing *Lambrix v. State*, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996) (holding that claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief).

ISSUE VI

THE *RING* v. ARIZONA CLAIM

This perfunctory claim is procedurally barred. It was not raised on direct appeal. See, *Parker v. State*, 790 So. 2d 1033, 1034-35 (Fla. 2001). Additionally, any purported reliance on *Ring* is misplaced in light of the aggravating factors, which included the defendant's multiple prior violent felony convictions and during the course of a felony aggravator. See generally, *King v. State/King v. Moore*, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002); *Lugo v. State*, 845 So.2d 74, 119 n. 79 (Fla. 2003). Furthermore, *Ring* does not apply retroactively. *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 124 S. Ct. 2519 (2004).

CCRC states, "This claim is reasserted for preservation purposes." (Initial Brief at 78). However, this perfunctory statement is insufficient to preserve any specific argument for review. In *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 843 (Fla. 2011), the defendant raised a *Ring* claim on direct appeal and later sought to add additional arguments on post-conviction appeal. In *Troy*, this Court applied a procedural bar to new arguments and explained:

Troy next challenges the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute as applied to him and concedes he does so for preservation purposes. In his direct appeal, Troy unsuccessfully asserted the unconstitutionality of Florida's death penalty

statute:

Troy next argues that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutionally invalid because it does not require the findings of each aggravating factor to be made by the jury, pursuant to *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). This Court has denied relief in appeals where the trial judge has found the "during the course of a felony" aggravator. Given that Troy was convicted of this crime simultaneously with two counts of armed burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and attempted sexual battery, relief on this *Ring* claim is denied.

Troy, 948 So.2d at 653-54 (citations omitted). Troy now claims that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional as applied because (1) the indictment fails to provide notice as to aggravators; (2) the statute permits jury recommendations of death based upon a simple majority vote; and (3) the statute does not require jury unanimity as to the existence of specific aggravators. **The additional claims that Troy now raises are procedurally barred because Troy failed to raise them on direct appeal.** See *Evans v. State*, 946 So.2d 1, 15-16 (Fla.2006). Therefore, Troy is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Troy, 57 So. 3d 828, 843 (Fla. 2011).

Johnson's current attempt to preserve some unspecified arguments in this post-conviction appeal is insufficient to fairly preserve any argument for review.

ISSUE VII

THE *SIMMONS* v. *SOUTH CAROLINA* CLAIM

Johnson admits that this claim was raised on direct appeal, *Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 637, 645 (Fla. 1995), this Court found "no merit" to this claim and denied relief. Issues that were, or could have been, raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Willacy v. State*, 967 So. 2d 131, 141 (Fla. 2007) ("Claims that could have been brought on direct appeal are procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings.").

ISSUE VIII

THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

In its "Order Following *Huff* Hearing. . .", of March 1, 2007, the Circuit Court denied this claim as follows:

The claims in ground IX are denied as the issue was raised on direct appeal and it is improper to recast this issue under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. See *Johnson v. State*, 660 So.2d 637, 647-648 (Fla. 1991). See also *Valle v. State*, 705 So.2d 1331, 1337 n.6 (Fla. 1997).

(White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4852)

Again, claims which were raised, or could have been raised, on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Willacy v. State*, 967 So. 2d 131, 141 (Fla. 2007).

ISSUE IX

THE LETHAL INJECTION CLAIM

In its "Order Following *Huff* Hearing. . .", of March 1, 2007, the Circuit Court ruled:

The claims in ground X alleging that legal injection is cruel and unusual punishment is denied. See *Provenzano v. State*, 761 So.2d 1097, 1099 (Fla.), cert. denied, 530 U.S. 1255 (2000).

(White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4852)

CCRC admits that this claim is not supported by the caselaw. (Initial Brief of Appellant at 81, fn. 2). Johnson's method of execution claim is procedurally barred and also without merit. See, *Suggs v. State*, 923 So. 2d 419, 441 (Fla. 2005) ("Suggs claims that execution by electrocution or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. Because this claim was not raised on direct appeal, it is procedurally barred.") It is also without merit. See, *Tompkins v. State*, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1080-82 (Fla. 2008) (upholding the constitutionality of Florida's capital-sentencing scheme and lethal-injection protocol); *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 839-40 (Fla. 2011) (rejecting Troy's claims regarding deficiencies in Florida's lethal injection protocol); *Baze v. Rees*, 553 U.S. 35, 128 S. Ct. 1520 (2008); *Valle v. State*, 2011 WL 3667696, 14 (Fla. 2011).

ISSUE X

THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM

Johnson next claims cumulative error rendered his trial and sentencing fundamentally unfair. This is a purely legal claim, so review is *de novo*. *Walton v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009); *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

This Court has held that claims which are procedurally barred or were rejected on direct appeal cannot be considered in a post-conviction claim of cumulative error. *Rogers v. State*, 957 So. 2d 538, 553-54 (Fla. 2007); see also, *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003) ("Where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail."); *Schoenwetter v. State*, 46 So. 3d 535, 562 (Fla. 2010) (citing cases).

Johnson's shotgun complaints (Initial Brief at 83) are not sufficient to preserve any issue for appeal. See, *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."). Furthermore, Johnson's IAC claims were refuted at the evidentiary hearing or waived by failure of proof. As Johnson has not demonstrated any error, he is not entitled to any relief based on a claim of cumulative error.

ISSUE XI

THE CLAIM OF INCOMPETENCE TO BE EXECUTED

In this issue, Johnson speculates that he may be incompetent at the time of his execution. In its "Order Following *Huff* Hearing. . ." of March 1, 2007, the Circuit Court denied this claim as premature. (White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4852). This is a purely legal claim to be reviewed *de novo*. *Walton*, 3 So. 3d at 1005; *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Johnson has acknowledged that his claim is premature. As this Court has repeatedly recognized, this claim is not ripe for judicial consideration until a death warrant has been issued. At that time, the claim must be pursued in accordance with Section 922.07, Florida Statutes. As this is not the appropriate time or vehicle for presentation of this claim, case law mandates the summary denial of this claim at this time. *Sexton v. State*, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008); *Barnhill v. State*, 971 So. 2d 106, 118 (Fla. 2007); *Philmore v. State*, 937 So. 2d 578, 590 (Fla. 2006); *Kimbrough v. State*, 886 So. 2d 965, 984 (Fla. 2004); *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 21-22 (Fla. 2003); *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 843 (Fla. 2011).

ISSUE XII

THE SUPPLEMENTAL CLAIMS SUMMARILY DENIED

In 2008, Johnson filed several *pro se* motions indicating a desire to raise six claims that he felt CCRC did not adequately raise. CCRC expressly adopted these six claims. In response, the State maintained that the six *pro se* claims duplicated claims that were previously raised by CCRC in the motion to vacate (as amended), were summarily denied in the *Huff* order, and should be summarily denied again, as facially insufficient and/or refuted by the record.

The Circuit Court summarily denied the original six claims in the *Huff* order, filed on March 1, 2007 (White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4851-4858), and also summarily denied the supplemental claims in the order filed on April 28, 2009. (White PCR V10/1800-1807; White PCR *Pro Se* Order, V29/5408-5415).

The six sub-claims on post-conviction appeal are: Claim 12(A) prosecutorial misconduct (arguing facts not in evidence) and IAC; Claim 12(B) prosecutorial misconduct (false evidence at suppression hearings) and IAC; Claim 12(C) prosecutorial misconduct (inconsistent theories) and IAC; Claim 12(D) IAC/failure to introduce evidence of actual innocence; Claim 12(E) State used illegally obtained rolled prints; Claim 12(F)

arrest and search and seizure based on defective affidavit which contained false statements and IAC. These sub-claims, 12(A) - 12(F), overlap both the original post-conviction claims 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 19 and the *pro se* supplemental claims adopted by CCRC.

All of Johnson's allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are procedurally barred. These claims are based on the documents and exhibits presented at the time of trial and were cognizable on direct appeal. As a result, Johnson's allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Lukehart v. State*, 2011 WL 2472801, 14 (Fla. 2011), citing *Spencer*, 842 So. 2d at 60-61 (substantive claims of prosecutorial misconduct could and should have been raised on direct appeal and thus were procedurally barred from consideration in a post-conviction motion).

Claim 12(A) Prosecutorial misconduct (allegedly arguing facts not in evidence) and IAC

In his initial motion to vacate, as amended (post-conviction claim 13), Johnson alleged a substantive claim of prosecutorial misconduct (arguing facts not in evidence) and ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to challenge the alleged prosecutorial misconduct.

The prosecutorial misconduct claim was based on the failure

to introduce laboratory slides which contained evidence linking Johnson to the murder victim. This claim, based on the trial record, was available for direct appeal and is procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Lukehart*. The trial court's *Huff* order summarily denied this post-conviction claim, stating: "The claims in ground XIII are denied because prosecutorial misconduct must be raised on direct appeal and the record also refutes the Defendant's claim. See *Brown v. State*, 894 So. 2d 137, 145 (Fla. 2004). (See attached Tr. 152-154)." (White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4853).

This sub-claim was correctly summarily denied. The State presented testimony of a hair and fiber expert from the FBI analyst who testified as to the procedures followed by the FBI. His testimony established a chain of custody for the evidence from the points of origin to the lab and through his analysis. During his testimony, the documentation, i.e., packaging, envelopes, etc., were introduced into evidence to establish a basis for his expert opinion. This procedure was followed not only by the State, but also by the defense -- who used the agent to introduce evidence favorable to Johnson. Agent Bennett testified that the items (hairs) found in a specific exhibit were examined by him and found to be consistent with the hair standard of the defendant. Nothing in this procedure was

untruthful and did not establish prosecutorial misconduct.

Johnson further complains about photographs entered into evidence and comments made by the State regarding injuries to the victim's vaginal and anal areas. This evidence was the subject of pre-trial and trial motions and objections ruled on by the Court. Thus, there could be no ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to raise these issues. See, *Strickland*. Additionally, these issues also were ones which could have been raised on direct appeal and, therefore, are procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Lukehart*.

Claim 12(B) Prosecutorial misconduct (allegedly presenting false evidence at suppression hearings) and IAC

In his initial motion to vacate, as amended (post-conviction claim 14), Johnson alleged a claim of prosecutorial misconduct in presenting evidence during a hearing on a motion to suppress, specifically an FDLE analyst who originally examined hair found on the victim's body, when subsequent analysis by the FBI laboratory after Johnson's arrest reported that those same hairs did not match Johnson. The trial court's *Huff* order ruled that the "claims in ground XIV are denied as refuted by the record. (See attached Tr. 154-162, Evidence Record and Fingerprint card)." (White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4853).

A review of the record established that the testimony of the FDLE analyst was presented by the defense. The State argued the evidence to recreate for the court the facts known to law enforcement at the time of the defendant's arrest. The evidence was not "false evidence" and the record establishes that this evidence was presented merely to establish probable cause. It was not used to mislead the court or in an effort to prove guilt, and Johnson failed to establish any deficient performance and resulting prejudice under *Strickland*. This sub-claim was correctly summarily denied.

Claim 12(C) Prosecutorial misconduct (allegedly presenting inconsistent theories) and IAC

In his initial motion to vacate, as amended (post-conviction claim 15), Johnson alleged a claim of prosecutorial misconduct for allegedly presenting inconsistent theories and ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to challenge misconduct. This sub-claim intersects, somewhat, with the previous sub-claim (12B). The trial court's *Huff* order summarily denied this post-conviction claim as follows:

The claims in ground XIV are denied as refuted by the record. (See attached Tr. 154-162, Evidence Record and Fingerprint card). The claims in ground XV are denied as refuted by the trial court record and for the reasons given in ground XIV. (See attached Deposition of Tech. Virginia Casey, Supplementary Offense Report, Deposition of Tech. Mike Zagorski, Sarasota Sheriff's Dept., Investigative Report, Deposition of Madelyn Luzier, Supplementary Offense

Report).

(White PCR *Huff* Order, V26/4853).

The State used the results of the FDLE analysis (finding hair from the crime scene as consistent with a black male) as evidence in a motion to suppress to establish probable cause. A later FBI analysis found this hair evidence to be inconsistent with the defendant. At trial, the defense introduced the FBI findings and argued that hairs found at the scene did not match the defendant. The State merely argued that hair unlike the defendant's found at the crime scene did not overcome the evidence that Johnson's hair and fiber from his clothing was identified in the victim's pubic combing. These arguments were clearly not inconsistent theories of prosecution, and there is no prosecutorial misconduct. Once again, Johnson's claim of alleged prosecutorial misconduct is based on the trial record; therefore, it was available for direct appeal and is procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Lukehart*. Furthermore, Johnson failed to show any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under *Strickland*. Johnson's claim was without basis and refuted by the record and, therefore, correctly denied without a hearing.

Claim 12(D) IAC/failure to introduce evidence of actual innocence

In his initial motion to vacate, as amended (post-conviction claim 16), Johnson asserted a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to introduce alleged evidence of "actual innocence." The Circuit Court's *Huff* order summarily denied this claim as follows:

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